# HR & Millennials: Insights Into Your New Human Capital

A White Paper by the Human Resources Professionals Association



Human Resources Professionals Association

### HR & Millennials: Insights into Your New Human Capital

A White Paper by the Human Resources Professionals Association

# Table of Contents

- 04 List of Recommendations
- 06 Introduction
- **10** Understanding Millennials
- 14 What Millennials Want How to Attract and Retain Them
  - 12 Millennials seek a work-life balance
  - 13 Millennials desire professional development
  - **15** Millennials care about their salary
  - 15 Millennials desire opportunities for promotion

### **16** How do Millennials get along with others and how to transition a workforce?

- 18 Generations have different views on work-life balance
- 18 Generations have different approaches to communication
- 19 Generations have different requirements for information
- 20 Conclusion
- 22 Footnotes



## List of Recommendations



5

# Introduction

ILLENNIALS, SPECIFICALLY WORKERS WHO WERE BORN BETWEEN 1980 AND 1995, ARE PROBABLY ONE OF THE MOST DISCUSSED AND DEBATED AGE GROUPS. THEY ARE OFTEN SAID TO BE DISLOYAL, HIGHLY SELF-INTERESTED, AND, BY SOME, EVEN LAZY. YET, ARE THESE CHARACTERIZATIONS ACCURATE, AND SHOULD EMPLOYERS CARE?

Ontario's economy is changing at a rapid pace and is dramatically different than it was even a few short years ago. In today's highly competitive global marketplace, talent is mobile and competition for workers between jurisdictions, as well as organizations, is fierce. A recent world-wide survey of CEOs by Price Waterhouse Cooper (PwC) highlighted that retention of Millennials is one of their largest issues.<sup>1</sup>

Millennial workers are the future of all Canadian businesses. Today, Millennials represent the largest age cohort in the Canadian workplace<sup>2</sup>, and are steadily moving past entry-level jobs, and into leadership roles. Studies in the United States show that Millennials are now the largest living generation, larger than even the Baby Boomers<sup>3</sup>, and that trend continues in Canada. According to Statistics Canada projections compiled by Environics Analytics, the Canadian Millennial population will grow past 11 million people, while the next largest generation, Baby Boomers, continues to decline.<sup>4</sup> It is therefore critical for the human resource industry to understand Millennials – what defines them, how to attract them, retain them, and integrate them into our organizations.

With this goal in mind the Human Resources Professionals Association (HRPA) has undertaken to help its Members understand the Millennial generation by exploring what Millennials look for from their employers and how they can be better transitioned into a new workplace. The recommendations made in this report are based on a literature review of primarily quantitative studies conducted on these issues, as well as a survey of 1,026 HRPA Members, which was conducted online from September 14, 2016 to September 28, 2016.



# **Understanding Millennials**

O UNDERSTAND IF MILLENNIALS ARE INDEED DIFFERENT FROM OTHER GENERATIONS, THE HRPA SURVEYED ITS MEMBERS TO SEE IF, BASED ON THEIR OWN EXPERIENCES, THE AVERAGE MILLENNIAL WORKER HAS A DIFFERENT SET OF VALUES OR MOTIVATIONS THAN EMPLOYEES FROM OTHER GENERATIONS. THE SURVEY FOUND THAT 90.3% OF RESPONDENTS FELT THAT MILLENNIALS DID TEND TO HAVE DIFFERENT VALUES AND MOTIVATIONS.

However, these differences are not simply the result of their younger age. Many researchers agree the Millennial generation is different from other generations, in-part because of the environment they have grown up in. According to a study by the Boston College Centre for Work and Family, there are several environmental factors that have helped create the Millennial generation. These included the impact of technology in daily lives such as the internet and smart phones, changes in the availability of secure jobs, and delays in making "adult commitments" such as having children, or getting married.<sup>5</sup> These factors have influenced how Millennials have grown up and have also shaped what Millennials desire from their employers.

#### Q - IN YOUR EXPERIENCE, ON AVERAGE DO MILLENNIAL WORKERS HAVE DIFFERENT VALUES OR MOTIVATIONS THAN OTHER EMPLOYEES IN YOUR WORKPLACE?

SOURCE: HRPA MEMBER SURVEY SEPTEMBER 14-28, 2016.



90%

YES, THEY TEND TO HAVE DIFFERENT VALUES AND MOTIVATIONS

10%

NO, THEY ARE THE SAME AS OTHER GENERATIONS

# What Millennials Want - How to Attract and Retain Them

NDERSTANDING THAT MILLENNIAL RECRUITMENT IS DIFFERENT FROM RECRUITING OTHER GENERATIONS OF EMPLOYEES IS CRITICAL FOR ORGANIZATIONS. THIS IS EVIDENCED IN THE FACT THAT ACCORDING TO THE 2010 US NATIONAL ASSOCIATION

OF COLLEGES AND EMPLOYERS, 41% OF MILLENNIALS WHO WERE LOOKING FOR JOBS TURNED DOWN OFFERS, INDICATING THEY HOLD SOME DESIRES ABOVE SIMPLE EMPLOYMENT.<sup>6</sup>

At the same time retention is an ongoing challenge for this age group as well. Looking at Canadian Millennials, Deloitte found that 61% of Millennials said they will leave their current employers in the next four years. This creates a "loyalty challenge" and is caused by various issues such as not feeling fully utilized or mentored.<sup>7</sup> HRPA Members are feeling the pressure of this loyalty challenge. In its survey of Members 64.1% of respondents indicated that Millennials tend to leave their companies faster than other generations.

Within this challenging environment, for organizations to properly attract and retain Millennials, they must examine the motivations of Millennials, and adjust their employment strategies accordingly. The HRPA's literature review has identified a number of key Millennial desires, and offers the following recommendations:

#### Q - HAS YOUR WORKPLACE EXPERIENCED RETENTION CHALLENGES FROM MILLENNIALS?

SOURCE: HRPA MEMBER SURVEY SEPTEMBER 14-28, 2016.



### **64%**

YES, THIS AGE GROUP TENDS TO LEAVE US FASTER THAN OTHER GROUPS

36%

NO, RETENTION RATES FOR THIS AGE GROUP ARE SIMILAR TO OTHER GROUPS

11

#### MILLENNIALS SEEK A WORK-LIFE BALANCE

Millennials desire flexible work arrangements and jobs that allow them a reasonable work-life balance.<sup>8</sup> Many non-Millennials also desire flexible work arrangements, however, Millennials go further and are willing to give up the promise of future increased compensation to maintain a better work-life balance.<sup>9</sup> Only 20% of Millennials wanted promotions if taking one would negatively impacted their personal/family lives.<sup>10</sup>



#### RECOMMENDATION: PROVIDE A FLEXIBLE AND BALANCED WORK ENVIRONMENT

Having a flexible work environment is critical to most Millennials, yet not always offered by organizations. As a PwC study explains, 28% of Millennials said their work-life balance was "worse than they had expected" prior to joining their organizations.<sup>11</sup>

The HRPA surveyed its Members to see what portion of their organizations have changed their vacation or flexible work policies in order to attempt to improve Millennial retention. The survey found that a full 79.4% of respondents worked at organizations that have not changed their policies, and 20.6% have modified their approach in some way, with 12.6% of respondents indicating they had changed their flexible work policies specifically. In addition, many survey respondents indicated that their organizations have adjusted policies related to various leaves and vacation days.

Rent-A-Centre, a company with a large percentage of Millennial workers, is one company that provides flexible environments as a way to retain employees. Their stores offer staff weekends off on a rotating basis as a way to make their Millennials happy. They have also revised their vacation policies to make them more appealing by allowing new employees to take holidays.<sup>12</sup>

## $\overline{P}$

20% OF MILLENNIALS WANT PROMOTIONS IF IT WOULD NEGATIVELY IMPACT THEIR PERSONAL LIVES.



28% OF MILLENNIALS BELIEVE THEIR WORK-LIFE BALANCE IS WORSE THAN EXPECTED.



**63%** OF MILLENNIALS FEEL THEIR EMPLOYERS ARE NOT FULLY DEVELOPING THEIR LEADERSHIP SKILLS.



77% OF CANADIAN MILLENNIALS FELT THEIR COMPANY'S ABILITY TO PROVIDE LEADERSHIP DEVELOPMENT WAS "WEAK."



**70%** OF MILLENNIALS EXPECT TO ADVANCE WITHIN 18 MONTHS OF TAKING A JOB



**60%** OF MILLENNIALS WERE HAPPY WITH THEIR CAREER ADVANCEMENT

#### MILLENNIALS DESIRE PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

Research has shown that Millennials would prefer employers offer training and development above all other benefits. This training could come from formal training programs, mentoring, or even collaboration.<sup>13</sup>

Looking at Millennials broadly, research shows that 63% of Millennials feel their "leadership skills are not being fully developed by their employers." To drive the point further, 71% of those Millennials looking to leave in the next two years identify being unhappy with this deficiency.<sup>14</sup> Here in Canada, a full 77% of Millennials at all employment levels felt their company's ability to provide leadership development for Millennials was "weak".<sup>15</sup> A lack of professional development can come in two primary ways. The first is structured training programs, while the second is through different types of mentorship programs.

#### Q - HAS YOUR ORGANIZATION CHANGED ITS VACATION OR FLEXIBLE WORK POLICIES IN AN ATTEMPT TO RETAIN MORE MILLENNIALS?



#### RECOMMENDATION: STRENGTHEN AND PROMOTE TRAINING AND SKILLS DEVELOPMENT

According to a study by the Conference Board of Canada, Canadian businesses understand the value of skills development, and are investing more in training than they did a few years ago. However, investments are still far below 1990 levels. This research found that employers in Canada spend \$800 per employee on training, which is considerably lower than what employers spend in the United States. The good news, however, is that the gap between Canada and the US appears to be diminishing.<sup>16</sup>

Research conducted by the OECD shows that Canadian workers participate in employer-sponsored education at a lower rate that many other countries including the United Kingdom, the United States, and Australia. Yet unlike other countries, the training discrepancy between different types of workers appears to be lower. In Canada there is little difference between the rate of training white-collared workers receive versus blue-collared workers, while white-collared workers participate at a higher rate in most other countries.<sup>17</sup>

Companies with HRPA Members appear to provide employee training at a high rate. A previous survey of HRPA Members conducted from April 18-26, 2016 showed that 73% of respondent's organizations invest regularly in employee training. However, 57% of those respondents felt their employers should increase the level of training they provide.

While costs of training may be high for organizations, Millennials demand this type of professional development, and the costs of not providing it might be more expensive in the long run. The HRPA membership survey revealed that with those Members that attempt to recruit Millennials, the top three tactics deployed to do so are LinkedIn (73.3%), corporate career websites (72%) and school job fairs (62.4%). In addition, other avenues that were often highlighted included internship programs, Instagram and Glassdoor.

#### RECOMMENDATION: IMPLEMENT A MENTORING PROGRAM

Mentoring can have a direct effect on retention rates. According to Brack and Kelly, one survey conducted by Bellevue University's Human Capital Lab showed that Millennials who participate in a mentor program have a 23% higher retention rate than those that do not.<sup>18</sup>

There are different types of mentoring programs that organizations can deploy. Some use more traditional forms mentoring such as one-on-one mentoring or group mentoring. While other organizations deploy different methods such as reverse mentoring, which allow more senior workers to learn skills such as technological ones from their Millennial counterparts.<sup>19</sup> Another new mentoring model deployed by some organizations is an informal mentoring structure where workers would have a small group of colleagues who act as a "personal Board of Directors.<sup>20</sup>

The HRPA surveyed its Members to see what percentage of organizations have official mentoring programs for Millennials or young workers. The survey found that 60.3% of respondents did not have an official mentoring program. Those companies that do have a mentoring program, most often have an informal one. In addition, many respondents indicated their mentoring program was not age-specific, and all employees were able to access it.

#### RECOMMENDATION: ENSURE YOUR ORGANIZATION EMBRACES COLLABORATION

According to the Toronto Star, a study by Career Edge Organization found that Millennials rank collaboration in the workplace as a key priority.<sup>21</sup> Meanwhile, a study by PwC which surveyed 44,000 people concluded that Millennials desire collaboration as primary elements of their workplace.<sup>22</sup> Millennials look for corporate cultures that prioritize collaboration and a feeling of community.<sup>23</sup>

#### Q - DOES YOUR COMPANY HAVE AN OFFICIAL MENTORING PROGRAM FOR MILLENNIALS OR YOUNGER WORKERS

SOURCE: HRPA MEMBER SURVEY SEPTEMBER 14-28, 2016



#### MILLENNIALS CARE ABOUT THEIR SALARY

Salary rate, and the potential for increased salary, are important to Millennial works. One study showed that 95% of all survey respondents considered salary rates to be important, very important or extremely important, making it the second most important criteria Millennials used when choosing an employer.<sup>24</sup>



#### RECOMMENDATION: ENSURE SALARY RATES ARE COMPETITIVE

As salary rate is the second most important thing to Millennials who are evaluating employers, it is important that salary and benefits packages are competitive. In the HRPA survey of Members few respondents indicated they used salary directly as a way to retain Millennials, while many more indicated that their organizations have improved benefits packages as retention tool. Items such as different leaves, fitness and enhanced pensions were all mentioned.

#### MILLENNIALS DESIRE OPPORTUNITIES FOR PROMOTION

According to Ng and Schweitzer, promotional opportunities were ranked as the most appealing aspects of a business. They explain they average length of time Millennials expect to be promoted in is 15.1 months, and almost 70% of Millennials expect to be advanced within 18 months of taking their first job.<sup>25</sup> The Boston College study also confirms how important promotional opportunities are to Millennials, but concludes this focus "seems logical... given these young adults are at the beginning states of their careers."<sup>26</sup>

However, this does not mean that Millennials are necessarily unhappy with their current rate of career advancement. Indeed, the Boston College study showed that almost 60% of Millennials surveyed were happy with their career advancement progress<sup>27</sup>, while a PwC survey revealed that 56% of Millennials felt they could be promoted to the "most senior levels" of their organizations.<sup>28</sup>



**O - DOES YOUR COMPANY HAVE AN** 

#### RECOMMENDATION: ENSURE MILLENNIALS HAVE AN OPPORTUNITY TO GROW WITHIN YOUR ORGANIZATION OF THE WORKPLACE

Professional development should not be seen as a means to an end. To attract and retain Millennials, organizations should highlight their development opportunities as well as what career paths may be available in their organizations. With existing Millennial employees, organizations must be cognizant of their career tracks and be supportive of their advancement when appropriate.



# How do Millennials get along with others and how to transition a workforce?

-----

#### **GENERATIONAL DIFFERENCES**

	TRADITIONALISTS	BABY BOOMERS	GENERATION X	MILLENNIALS
BIRTH YEARS	1900-1945	1946-1964	1965-1980	1977-1994
Assets	<ul> <li>Experience;</li> <li>Dedication;</li> <li>Loyalty;</li> <li>Emotional maturity</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Service oriented;</li> <li>Dedication;</li> <li>Team perspective;</li> <li>Experience</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Adaptability;</li> <li>Techno-literacy;</li> <li>Independence;</li> <li>Willing to buck the system</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Collective action;</li> <li>Optimism;</li> <li>Ability to multi-task;</li> <li>Techno-savvy</li> </ul>
Liabilities	<ul> <li>Reluctant to buck the system;</li> <li>Uncomfortable with conflict</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Not necessarily budget minded;</li> <li>Uncomfortable with conflict</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Skeptical;</li> <li>Distrustful of authority</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Need for supervision and structure;</li> <li>Inexperience</li> </ul>
Motivations	<ul> <li>Connecting their actions to the overall good of their organization</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Leaders who get them involved and show them how to make a difference</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Permission to work on their own schedule</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Connecting their actions to their personal career goals</li> </ul>
Preferred methods of communication	• Written	<ul> <li>Verbal;</li> <li>Personal interaction</li> </ul>	<ul><li>Voicemail;</li><li>Email</li></ul>	<ul> <li>Instant messages;</li> <li>Text messages;</li> <li>Email</li> </ul>

SOURCE: MURPHY, SUSAN A. (2007). LEADING A MULTIGENERATIONAL WORKFORCE. AARP. ACCESSED AT: HTTP://ASSETS.AARP.ORG/WWW.AARP.ORG\_/ARTICLES/MONEY/EMPLOYERS/LEADING\_MULTIGENERATIONAL\_WORKFORCE.PDF

S BABY BOOMERS DELAY THEIR RETIREMENT<br/>AND EXTEND THEIR CAREERS, WE<br/>NOW HAVE UP TO FOUR GENERATIONS<br/>COMING TOGETHER IN WORKPLACES -TRADITIONALISTS, BABY BOOMERS, GENERATION X, AND<br/>MILLENNIALS. EACH OF THESE GENERATIONS IS UNIQUE,<br/>AND THEIR DIFFERENCES CAN CAUSE COMMUNICATION<br/>AND MANAGEMENT CHALLENGES. TO MAKE THINGS<br/>MORE DIFFICULT, A MOVE BY MANY ORGANIZATIONS TO<br/>FLATTEN THEIR MANAGEMENT STRUCTURES HAS CAUSED<br/>THESE GENERATIONS TO WORK MORE CLOSELY TOGETHER<br/>IN THESE ENVIRONMENTS THAN IN THE PAST.29

These challenges can cause intergenerational conflicts, which more than 60% of organizations experience<sup>30</sup>, and a study by Ernst and Young showed that as many as 75% of managers find that overseeing these types of multi-generational workforces to be a challenge. That study went on to indicate that 72% of managers found tensions between older generations being managed by younger employees, while 77% felt that each generation had different work expectations which posed a challenge.<sup>31</sup>

The HRPA surveyed its Members to determine if they have experienced the same rate of intergenerational conflict. It would appear these types of tensions are slightly less prevalent in organizations with HRPA Members, with 54% of respondents indicating they have experienced tensions between Millennials and different age groups of workers due to a perceived difference in values or work habits.

Given the extent of the problem, the HRPA surveyed its Members to see how many of their organizations have done anything differently in an attempt to integrate Millennial employees with the rest of their workforces. Unfortunately, only 9.8% of respondents indicated their organizations had taken steps to integrate Millennials. However, of those 9.76%, 94.6% of them indicated the actions their employers had taken did help to improve employee integration.

In the face of these significant challenges, it is important to identify some of the larger pressure points and evaluate different approaches to keep each generation happy.

### GENERATIONS HAVE DIFFERENT VIEWS ON WORK-LIFE BALANCE

As Diaz explains, Millennials' greater need for a work-life balance can create tensions with older workers who may not understand their priorities.<sup>32</sup> However, the PwC NextGen Study found that non-Millennials want greater work flexibility at the same rate as Millennials.<sup>33</sup> Yet as Hershatter and Epstein explain, Millennials may have more confidence than other generations to demand such balance.<sup>34</sup>



#### Recommendation: Offer flexible work options

Options such as compressed scheduling, working from home, and job sharing can all create flexibility that workers require. Ensure your corporate culture embraces these options, so all workers understand they are able to participate in them.

### GENERATIONS HAVE DIFFERENT APPROACHES TO COMMUNICATION

The daily use of technology is possibly the most obvious difference between Millennials and other generations according to Hershatter and Epstein.<sup>35</sup> As a white paper developed by Adecco explains, Millennials reliance on technology can often be challenging for generations such as the Baby Boomers, who are much more used to in-person interactions or talking over the phone.<sup>36</sup> However, the use of technology has expanded quickly past more 'traditional' forms of communication such as email. As the Pew Research Centre found, out of any age group under sixty, Millennials are the least likely to use email on a daily basis, and instead turn to forms such as texting.<sup>37</sup>

#### Q - HAS YOUR WORKPLACE DONE ANYTHING DIFFERENTLY TO ATTEMPT TO INTEGRATE MILLENNIAL EMPLOYEES WITH THE REST OF YOUR WORKPLACE?

SOURCE: HRPA MEMBER SURVEY SEPTEMBER 14-28, 2016.



Recommendation: Ensure technology is part of the workplace

Millennials will expect their workplace to include digital tools to allow instant connection, and team collaboration.<sup>38</sup>

#### Recommendation: Offer reverse mentoring

The introduction of digital tools may satisfy Millennial workers, while at the same time, they could cause issues with older workers. To overcome this challenge, many organizations are using different forms of reverse mentoring, where younger workers are paired with older managers. This process allows the younger workers to teach their older workers about the tools they use as part of their daily lives.<sup>39</sup>

#### GENERATIONS HAVE DIFFERENT REQUIREMENTS FOR INFORMATION

Millennials desire to know the details of why they are being assigned a task, and often will not hesitate to ask their supervisors to explain. This approach is far different from other generations, who to were taught to not challenge or question their superiors, and can sometimes be misconstrued as challenging.<sup>40</sup>



### Recommendation: Provide managers with generational training of the workplace

Generational training can be helpful for older managers to understand the needs and motivation of younger workers. It can also be useful for Millennials that take on leadership roles to better understand their older employees.<sup>41</sup> This second point is particularly important given that Millennials are taking on management roles at a rapid pace.<sup>42</sup>

The HRPA surveyed its Members to see what percentage of their organizations currently train their managers on how to supervise Millennial employees. The survey found that 85.6% of respondents did not have specific manager training about Millennials.

#### Q - DOES YOUR COMPANY TRAIN YOUR MANAGERS SPECIFICALLY ABOUT HOW TO WORK WITH MELLENNIALS EMPLOYEES?

SOURCE: HRPA MEMBER SURVEY SEPTEMBER 14-28, 2016.



TRAINING AND GUIDELII TO OUR MANAGERS



# Conclusion

ILLENNIALS NOW MAKE UP THE LARGEST AGE GROUP IN CANADIAN WORKPLACES, AND ARE A CRITICAL COMPONENT OF THE ECONOMY. ORGANIZATIONS NOW OPERATE IN A HIGHLY-COMPETITIVE ENVIRONMENT FOR RECRUITMENT AND RETENTION OF SKILLED WORKERS, AND MAINTAINING A STABLE AND TALENTED WORKFORCE IS BECOMING MORE AND MORE DIFFICULT. WITHIN THIS CONTEXT IT IS IMPORTANT FOR ORGANIZATIONS TO UNDERSTAND HOW MILLENNIALS DIFFER FROM OTHER AGE COHORTS AND WHAT MOTIVATES THEM.

Human Resource professionals have a key role to play. Only by understanding the differences between generations of workers, and adapting recruitment and retention approaches for Millennials specifically, can organizations ensure their workforces remain competitive going forward. Specifically, the HRPA recommends organizations:

- 1. Provide a flexible and balanced work environment;
- 2. Strengthen and promote training and skills development;
- 3. Implement a Mentoring Program;
- 4. Ensure your organization embraces collaboration;
- 5. Ensure salary rates are competitive; and,
- **6.** Ensure Millennials have an opportunity to grow within your organization.

Recruitment and retention, however, is only part of picture to maintaining a stable workforce. As more and more Millennials join the employment ranks and rise into management positions, intergenerational tensions are on the rise. With 3 out of ever 4 managers indicating they find overseeing a multi-generational workforce to be a challenge, organizations must take steps to try to minimize the pressures created. To this end, the HRPA recommends organizations:

- 1. Offer flexible work options.
- **2.** Ensure technology is part of the workplace.
- 3. Offer reverse mentoring.
- 4. Provide managers with generational training.

While some HRPA Members have begun to adapt their recruitment, retention, and transition efforts, the HRPA's Member survey indicates there is still a great amount of opportunity for organizations to improve in this regard. If companies do not adapt, they risk falling out of touch with their employees, and will fall further and further behind their competitors.



## Endnotes

**01** PwC. (2011). Millennials at work: Reshaping the workplace. Accessed at: https://www.pwc.com/gx/en/managing-tomorrows-people/future-of-work/assets/reshaping- the-workplace.pdf

**02** Scott, Graham. (June 3, 2015). Millennials are now the biggest generation in the Canadian workforce. Canadian Business. Accessed at:http://www.canadianbusiness.com/innovation/the-millennial-majority-workforce/

**03** Fry, Richard. (April 25, 2016). Millennials overtake Baby Boomers as America's largest generation. Pew Research Centre. Accessed at: http://www.pewresearch.org/fact-tank/2016/04/25/millennials-overtake-baby- boomers/

**04** Norris, Doug. (2015). Millennials: The Newest, Biggest, and Most Diverse Target Market. Accessed at: http://www.environicsanalytics. ca/docs/default-source/eauc2015- presentations/dougnorris-afternoonplenary.pdf?sfvrsn=6

**05** Harrington, Brad, Van Deusen, Fred, Sabatini Fraone, Jenifer, Morelock, Jeremiah. (2015). How Millennials Navigate Their Careers: Young Adult Views on Work, Life and Success. Boston College Centre for Work and Family. Accessed at: http://www.bc.edu/content/ dam/files/centers/cwf/pdf/BCCWF%20Millennial%20Careers%20 FINAL%20for%20web.pdf

**06** Coletto, David. (2012). R U Ready 4 Us? An introduction to Canadian Millennials. Abacus Data Inc. Accessed at: http:// canadianmillennials.ca/wp-content/uploads/2012/01/R- U-Readyfor-Us- An-Introduction- to-Canadian- Millennials.pdf

**07** Deloitte. (2016). The 2016 Deloitte Millennial Survey: Winning over the next generation of leaders. Accessed at: http://www2.deloitte. com/content/dam/Deloitte/global/Documents/About-Deloitte/gx-millenial-survey- 2016-exec- summary.pdf

**08** Deloitte. (2016). The 2016 Deloitte Millennial Survey: Winning over the next generation of leaders. Accessed at: http://www2.deloitte. com/content/dam/Deloitte/global/Documents/About-Deloitte/gxmillenial-survey- 2016-exec- summary.pdf

**09** PwC. (2013). PwC's NextGen: a global generational study. Accessed at: http://www.pwc.com/us/en/people-management/publications/ assets/pwc-nextgen- summary-of- findings.pdf

10 Harrington, Brad, Van Deusen, Fred, Sabatini Fraone, Jenifer, Morelock, Jeremiah. (2015). How Millennials Navigate Their Careers: Young Adult Views on Work, Life and Success. Boston College Centre for Work and Family Accessed at: http://www.bc.edu/content/ dam/files/centers/cwf/pdf/BCCWF%20Millennial%20Careers%20 FINAL%20for%20web.pdf **11** PwC. (2011). Millennials at work: Reshaping the workplace. Accessed at: https://www.pwc.com/gx/en/managing-tomorrowspeople/future- of-work/assets/reshaping- the-workplace.pdf

**12** Diaz, Jody. (2014). Managing Millennials: Engaging with the Newest Generation of Workers. ExecBlueprints. Books24x7, 2014. Accessed at: http://www.hrbrief.com/content46150

**13** PwC. (2011). Millennials at work: Reshaping the workplace. Accessed at: https://www.pwc.com/gx/en/managing-tomorrows-people/future-of-work/assets/reshaping- the-workplace.pdf

**14** Deloitte. (2016). The 2016 Deloitte Millennial Survey: Winning over the next generation of leaders. Accessed at: http://www2.deloitte. com/content/dam/Deloitte/global/Documents/About-Deloitte/gxmillenial-survey- 2016-exec- summary.pdf

**15** Deloitte. (2016). Human Capital Trends 2016: Out of sync. Accessed at: https://www2.deloitte.com/content/dam/Deloitte/ ca/Documents/human-capital/ca- en-2016- human-capital- trendsreport.pdf

**16** Conference Board of Canada. (December 10, 2015). Turning a Corner: Canadian Employers' Investments in Employee Learning and Development on the Rise. New Release. Accessed at: http://www. conferenceboard.ca/press/newsrelease/15-12-10/turning\_a\_corner\_ canadian\_employers\_investments\_in\_employee\_learning\_and\_ development\_on\_the\_rise.aspx

**17** OECD. (2015). Education at a Glance 2015: OECD Indicators, OECD Publishing. Accessed at: http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/eag-2015- en

**18** Brack, Jessica, and Kelly, Kip. (2012). Maximizing Millennials in the workplace. UNC Kenan-Flagler Business School. Accessed at: https://www.kenan-flagler.unc.edu/executive- development/custom-programs/~/media/DF1C11C056874DDA8097271A1ED48662.ashx

**19** Brack, Jessica, and Kelly, Kip. (2012). Maximizing Millennials in the workplace. UNC Kenan-Flagler Business School. Accessed at: https://www.kenan-flagler.unc.edu/executive- development/custom-programs/~/media/DF1C11C056874DDA8097271A1ED48662.ashx

20 Kram, Kathy, and Higgins, Monica. (2009). A New Mindset on Mentoring: Creating Developmental Networks at Work. Massachusetts Institute of Technology. Accessed at: http://www. bumc.bu.edu/facdev-medicine/files/2009/12/Kram-Higgins\_A-New-Mindset-on- Mentoring.pdf

**21** Taylor, Lesley Ciarula. (November 2, 2010). Study: What twentysomethings want from their jobs. The Toronto Star. Accessed at: https://www.thestar.com/business/2010/11/02/study\_what\_twentysomethings\_want\_from\_their\_jobs.html

23

**22** PwC. (2014). Engaging and Empowering Millennials: A follow-up to PwC's NextGen global generational study. Accessed at https://www.pwc.com/gx/en/hr-management- services/publications/assets/pwc-engaging- and-empowering- millennials.pdf

**23** PwC. (2013). PwC's NextGen: a global generational study. Accessed at: http://www.pwc.com/us/en/people-management/publications/assets/pwc-nextgen- summary-of- findings.pdf

24 Harrington, Brad, Van Deusen, Fred, Sabatini Fraone, Jenifer, Morelock, Jeremiah (2015). How Millennials Navigate Their Careers: Young Adult Views on Work, Life and Success. Boston College Centre for Work and Family Accessed at: http://www.bc.edu/content/ dam/files/centers/cwf/pdf/BCCWF%20Millennial%20Careers%20 FINAL%20for%20web.pdf

**25** Ng, Eddy S. W., Schweitzer, Linda, Lyons, Sean T. (February 2010). New Generation, Great Expectations: A Field Study of the Millennial Generation, Journal of Business Psychology. Accessed at: http://link. springer.com/article/10.1007/s10869-010-9159-4

26 Harrington, Brad, Van Deusen, Fred, Sabatini Fraone, Jenifer, Morelock, Jeremiah. (2015). How Millennials Navigate Their Careers: Young Adult Views on Work, Life and Success. Boston College Centre for Work and Family Accessed at: http://www.bc.edu/content/ dam/files/centers/cwf/pdf/BCCWF%20Millennial%20Careers%20 FINAL%20for%20web.pdf

27 Harrington, Brad, Van Deusen, Fred, Sabatini Fraone, Jenifer, Morelock, Jeremiah. (2015). How Millennials Navigate Their Careers: Young Adult Views on Work, Life and Success. Boston College Centre for Work and Family Accessed at: http://www.bc.edu/content/ dam/files/centers/cwf/pdf/BCCWF%20Millennial%20Careers%20 FINAL%20for%20web.pdf

**28** PwC (2011). Millennials at work: Reshaping the workplace. Accessed at: https://www.pwc.com/gx/en/managing-tomorrows-people/future-of-work/assets/reshaping- the-workplace.pdf

**29** Adecco. Managing Today's Multigenerational workforce. Accessed at: http://www.adecco.ca/EN/knowledge-centre/employers/ Documents/whitepapers/managing-multigenerational- workforce. pdf

**30** Murphy, Susan A. (2007). Leading a Multigenerational Workforce. AARP. Accessed at: http://assets.aarp.org/www.aarp.org\_/articles/ money/employers/leading\_multigenerational\_workforce.pdf

**31** Ernst Gamp; Young. (September 3, 2013). Younger Managers Rise in the Ranks: Survey Quantifies Management Shift and Reveals Challenges, Preferred Workplace Perks, and Perceived Generational Strengths and Weaknesses. Accessed at: http://www.multivu.com/ mnr/63068-ernst-and-young- Ilp-research- younger-managers- risein- the-ranks **32** Diaz, Jody. (2014). Managing Millennials: Engaging with the Newest Generation of Workers. ExecBlueprints. Books24x7, 2014. Accessed at: http://www.hrbrief.com/content46150\

**33** PwC. (2013). PwC's NextGen: a global generational study. Accessed at: http://www.pwc.com/us/en/people-management/publications/assets/pwc-nextgen- summary-of- findings.pdf

**34** Hershatter, Andrea, and Epstein, Molly. (June 2010). Millennials and the World of Work: An Organization and Management Perspective. Article in Journal of Business and Psychology. Accessed at: http://www.link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s10869-010-9160-y

**35** Hershatter, Andrea, and Epstein, Molly. (June 2010). Millennials and the World of Work: An Organization and Management Perspective. Article in Journal of Business and Psychology. Accessed at: http://www.link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s10869-010-9160-y

**36** Adecco. Managing Today's Multigenerational workforce. Accessed at: http://www.adecco.ca/EN/knowledge-centre/employers/ Documents/whitepapers/managing-multigenerational- workforce. pdf

**37** Research Center for the People and the Press. (2007). How young people view their lives, futures and politics: A portrait of 'generation next. Accessed at: http://www.people-press.org/2007/01/09/a-portrait-of- generation-next/

**38** PwC. (2011). Millennials at work: Reshaping the workplace. Accessed at: https://www.pwc.com/gx/en/managing-tomorrows-people/future-of-work/assets/reshaping-the-workplace.pdf

**39** PwC. (2011). Millennials at work: Reshaping the workplace. Accessed at: https://www.pwc.com/gx/en/managing-tomorrowspeople/future-of-work/assets/reshaping-the-workplace.pdf

**40** Diaz, Jody. (2014). Managing Millennials: Engaging with the Newest Generation of Workers. ExecBlueprints. Books24x7, 2014. Accessed at: http://www.hrbrief.com/content46150

**41** Lee Hecht Harrison. (2015). 2015 Job Market Perspectives: Insights and intelligence to Manage your career. Accessed at: http://www.lhh. com/~/media/adeccogroup/brands/lhh%20brand/usa/media/ideas-and- insights/whitepapers-reports/job- market-perspectives-2015. pdf

**42** Ernst & Samp; Young. (September 3, 2013). Younger Managers Rise in the Ranks: Survey Quantifies Management Shift and Reveals Challenges, Preferred Workplace Perks, and Perceived Generational Strengths and Weaknesses. Accessed at: http://www.multivu.com/ mnr/63068-ernst-and-young- Ilp-research- younger-managers- risein-the-ranks

